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      Preface

    

    
      A journalist’s assignments often lead her career. Covering military news stories has taken me to the war-torn country of Somalia, to the Middle East and to Panama. And a concern for animal welfare took me to the storm-ravaged US Gulf Coast, where I spent four months investigating the fates of pets left behind in hurricane-ravaged New Orleans, Louisiana.

        But it is the footprints left behind by criminals that fascinate me the most. For me, true crime is a passion – looking behind the story and picking up on the clues that lead to the perpetrators. I’m interested in getting to the facts of a case, no matter how emotive the circumstances of that case might be.

    

    I’ve been to more crime scenes – and far too many homicides – than I care to count. Even so, it is the details – the demeanour of witnesses, of family, neighbours and police, and even the weather – that hold your attention. As a writer, I am something more than a bystander, but I have the bystander’s vantage point: I step back and observe as the tales unfold before me.

      The illegal deeds described within this guide are often gritty but always fascinating, whether they are the facts of an infamous gem heist in Milan, Italy, in which thieves tunnelled into a top-end jewellery store, or the murder of an unsuspecting Oklahoma grandmother, Bertha Pippin, who was caught off-guard early one morning when there was a knock at her door. I have always gravitated towards the underdog when covering crime, attempting to give a voice to the victims.

      In the latter case, I wondered why it was all but ignored by the media after the initial reports, despite its shocking nature. In the case of the murder of Susan Berman – an unsolved crime that took place in Beverly Hills in 2000 – nobody, after a flurry of early articles, appeared to be covering the story with much depth. All the more surprising, when you consider that Berman was the daughter of a mobster.

      Some true cases are just plain absurd. A Las Vegas police detective once told me that reason crooks are caught is simple: they are stupid. Some leave their own belongings behind: it has been known for burglars to even leave photo ID, such as driving licenses, at the crime scene. It doesn’t get better than that for investigators – not to mention writers.

      The stories within these pages include the good, the bad, the ugly, and sometimes the comical. The devil is in the details, and I hope I have achieved my goal, of bringing both the victims and the culprits to life for you, the reader.

      Cathy Scott, 2009
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      Outlaws: “The Money, or your Life”

    

    
      The criminals and crimes of the early modern age have been romanticized, stylized and celebrated time and again in print and on screen. In the first few decades of the twentieth century – and in the Depression era of the 1930s in particular – outlaws often became heroes of sorts.
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    The procession of high-profile public enemies began with John Dillinger – the most famous of all US bank robbers – and it included such notorious criminals as Bonnie and Clyde, Ma Barker, Machine Gun Kelly, Pretty Boy Floyd, and Baby Face Nelson. They were the first celebrity gangsters and their crimes were always front-page news during what became known as the Midwest Crime Wave or Public Enemy era.

      It is still hard to tell how much of their reported exploits was hard fact and how much popular myth. Such is certainly the case with Ma Barker and her boys, whose misdemeanours have been dramatized over the years in books and in films – particularly with regard to the degree to which Barker was herself a criminal.

      Not all the outlaw tales, however, were exaggerated. Bonnie and Clyde, the most famous outlaw couple of all time, may have been glamourized even more in the years since their deaths, but they were larger-than-life legends even when they were alive. It’s a phenomenon for which the FBI itself was partially responsible: being placed on the most wanted list pumped up the crooks’ status, making the criminals’ reputations even more notorious. However, from John Dillinger and his gang to Ma Barker and her boys, the reality of their lives and the circumstances they lived under as they committed their crime sprees were anything but glamorous. Many of these criminals were on the lam for years, hiding out wherever they could, and terrorizing towns with kidnappings, robberies, and murders – often mowing down anyone who tried to get in their way. Because they had to keep low profiles, they lived rough, bedded down where they could and frequently didn’t know when they’d eat their next meal.

      There’s an irony to this of course, as many of US Depression-era gangsters, such as Pretty Boy Floyd and Machine Gun Kelly were down on their luck and turned to a life of crime because, during the economic slump, there was simply no work to be found. Many were poor country boys and girls yearning for a new way of life and willing to do anything to get it, for whom shiny new cars and powerful sub-machine-guns were equally covetable tokens of success. Most died violent deaths.

    

    
      
        

        Outlaws and their Nicknames
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          Alvin Karpis: creepy enough for you?
        
      

      To accompany their notorious reputations, outlaws often had outrageous names bestowed upon them. Some of the names didn’t exactly fit their tough-guy personas, as with Charles “Pretty Boy” Floyd and Lester “Baby Face Nelson” Gillis. Some, however, were entirely appropriate, as evidenced by the rather unimaginative but apposite monikers for George “Machine Gun” Kelly and Alvin “Creepy” Karpis (whose eventual 26-year incarceration at “The Rock” – Alcatraz – was the longest sentence the prison had ever known).

        Lesser-known Western outlaws included Slim Kid, One-shot Charlie, Wild Dick and Indian Bob. Whether they were high profile or relatively unknown, the nicknames of the desperados were no accident and certainly not given with affection: assigning catchy, memorable monikers to robbers was an FBI innovation that survived the US Gold Rush days and Prohibition. The practice continues today. Just as it was done in years past for old-style Western robbers, modern-day law enforcement still give their robbers a name that sticks.

        While federal agents doubtless quietly enjoy assigning the latest epithet to a robber du jour, it’s actually a serious business: the names are given to help trap these hold-up artists. For instance, one robber in San Diego, California, was labelled the “Bad Breath Bandit” by FBI agents because bank tellers reported that his breath stank. In Arizona, an unattractive criminal was nicknamed the “Ugly Robber”. She was given the title because she used different disguises and wore a variety of colourful wigs to a dozen hold-ups. These unflattering, catchy monikers are given so the public will remember them and tip off the FBI with leads. The Ugly Robber was eventually caught after four months on the run.

        In Washington State, suspects have been given names as unusual as “The Pillowcase”, “Duelling Banjo” and “Attila the Bun” – the latter on account of the fact that the female suspect had a messy bun of a haircut.

        Indeed, hair crops up in a lot of the FBI’s name-tags. Witness the high-profile “Ponytail Bandit”. The suspected culprit was an attractive, slender woman in her twenties, whose shoulder-length blonde ponytail stuck out from the back of her baseball cap in images captured on security video cameras. She pulled off a string of bank robberies that began on 8 May, 2007 in Austin, Texas, and were repeated in nearly identical heists in California and Washington states. During the robberies, she would ask the tellers to smile as they handed over the money. Because her photos and nickname were broadcast internationally, in February 2008 authorities, based on an anonymous tip, arrested the 21-year-old Morgan Michelle Hoke at the Cha Cha Villa Hotel in Bangkok, Thailand. The FBI did not release the dollar amount of the total take, as usual, because they typically do not want would-be robbers to look at it as a lucrative occupation. Authorities named Hoke’s husband, 26-year-old Stuart Michael Romine, as her alleged partner in crime in what law enforcement described as a modern Bonnie-and-Clyde-style crime spree. The husband’s complicity was suspected due to surveillance video footage in which a man looking very like him, wearing a similar baseball cap to Morgan Hoke’s, could be seen holding up four Texas banks. He remains at large.

        Dress sense has also earned some criminals their names. In Southern California, one robber dressed so stiffly that agents dubbed him the “Button-Up Bandit.” And in December 2007 the Los Angeles Police Department issued a news release informing the public about a “Tuxedo Bandit” who lifted two expensive Rolex watches. The crime happened in mid-afternoon when the unarmed man, dressed in a dinner jacket, walked into the Saint Cross watch store in Los Angeles. Posing as a customer, he told the store clerk that he was interested in buying an engagement gift for his girlfriend. After the would-be buyer spotted a couple of Rolex watches in the display case, he asked if he could see them. Once the timepieces were in his hands, he ran out the front door and fled. He had gotten away with two “Champagne-style” Rolexes with diamond bezels, valued at a total of $60,200. The bandit and the stolen watches have never been located.

        The prize for the most cumbersome of criminal nicknames must surely go to the “Irreconcilable Differences” bandit. Doesn’t exactly trip off the tongue, does it? He earned his nickname after telling a Beverly Hills bank teller, while he was holding her up, that he was going through a divorce. He was eventually caught and held accountable for seventeen bank heists.

        As long as crooks are robbing banks, it appears that the practice of assigning them unflattering handles will no doubt continue.

      

      
        
        

        
          Fact File: The first known medieval outlaws were the Coterel gang, who, in 1328, robbed 10 shillings from, and attacked, a vicar in Derbyshire, England. On the lam for years, they were eventually pardoned in exchange for serving in the military.

      

      

      

      
        

        FOR FURTHER INVESTIGATION
        
          
            [image: book]
           Outlaw Ballads, Legends & LoreDirector: Wayne Erbsen
1996

A collection of ballads and legends of the lawless men and women of the Wild West and South.
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           labankrobbers.orgThis site introduces you to the high-profile bank robbers, via their profiles, nicknames and photos, who have pulled off heists from Southern Californian financial institutions.



        

      

    

    

    
      
        

        Billy the Kid, the US’s most Famous Outlaw
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          William Bonney, a.k.a. Billy the Kid.
        
      

      A teenage outlaw of the Southwest, the Kid was born William Henry McCarty on 3 November 1859, in the New York area. He also went by the aliases of William Antrim and William Harrison Bonney.

        Billy had a reputation for being short-tempered and was considered a vicious and ruthless killer. According to legend, he killed twenty-one men in total: one for each year of his life. In a period of just four years, he fought in at least sixteen shootouts, killed at least four men, and assisted in the murder of five others. Some historians have countered the depiction, describing Billy the Kid instead as merely a born survivor in the savage world of the Wild West, where knowing how to use a gun meant the difference between life and death. The era he grew up in was a lawless and corrupt time.

        Much discussion over the years has concerned whether Billy was left- or right-handed. A famous tintype photo of him was, in fact, a reverse image, which gave the impression that the Kid was left-handed. Astute historians concluded the outlaw was right-handed, for he was holding a rifle in his left hand while a revolver was positioned on his hip near his right hand. The original tintype is now worth roughly $300,000, making it one of the most valuable historical photographs of the Old West.

        Billy’s mother, Catherine McCarty, was a widow and single mother of two – Billy had an older brother named Joseph – and the family relocated from New York to Wichita, Kansas, during Billy’s early childhood. By the early 1870s, Catherine was diagnosed with tuberculosis and ordered by her doctor to move to a dryer climate, which is when the family relocated to Santa Fe, New Mexico. After his mother married William Antrim in 1873, the family moved again, this time to Silver City, where Billy’s mother died a year later. Billy’s stepfather moved the boys to Arizona, where both Billy and Joseph had to fend for themselves. He put them in foster homes, but they fled. Billy got a job washing dishes and quickly fell in with the wrong crowd.

        His first criminal offence was the insignificant theft of a large tub of butter from the buckboard of a horse-drawn carriage, at the age of fourteen. After Billy tried to sell the goods to a local merchant, he was caught by the sheriff; he received a tongue-lashing and a public spanking. Next, along with the town troublemaker Sombrero Jack, Billy stole a large hamper of finished clothes from a Chinese laundry. He was caught with the clothing. When he refused to turn in his accomplice, the sheriff threw Billy in jail. Sombrero Jack helped him break out, and they moved to New York. When Billy, by now sixteen, and his friends got into a fight and a man was killed, one of Billy’s foster parents paid for his train fare back to New Mexico.

        According to legend, it was in 1879, at the Old Adobe Hotel in Hot Springs, in New Mexico Territory, that Billy hooked up with another outlaw, Jesse Evans, the leader of a band of horse rustlers called the Boys. Billy had been playing cards at the hotel when he was introduced to Jesse and Billy then joined the Jesse James gang. Billy was involved in what was called the Lincoln War, between Jesse James’s gang and lawmen over the possession of horses, during which Sheriff William Brady was killed. He escaped being caught, however, and became a fugitive.

        Billy broke out on his own as a cattle rustler, getting his name on the “Wanted” posters down in Arizona. He wrote New Mexico governor Lew Wallace an impassioned letter, asking for a pardon. In the letter, he wrote: “I’m not afraid to die like a man fighting, but I would not like to be killed like a dog unarmed.” The governor agreed to pardon Billy in exchange for testimony against other outlaws. As part of the agreement, Billy turned himself in. But he soon realized that the pardon would never come: he was wanted for more than just rustling and didn’t stand a chance in court. Billy made his escape quite easily – more or less just walking out of the Lincoln jail to freedom.

        He was caught three years later and charged for his participation in the Lincoln War. While he was by no means the only participant in the fight, Billy was the sole person tried for the murder of Sheriff Brady. On 8 April, after the one-day trial in a small adobe building, Billy stood before the bench and a jury found him guilty of gunning Brady down three years earlier. On 13 April, Billy was sentenced by Judge Warren Bristol to be hanged “by the neck until his body be dead”. Instead, he escaped, and immediately headed for Fort Sumner, New Mexico, where he had friends.

        On 14 July 1881, Lincoln County sheriff Pat Garrett shot Billy the Kid to death in an ambush at the Fort Sumner ranch home of a friend of his. The next day, Billy was buried at the nearby Old Fort Sumner cemetery on the same grave site as two fallen companions, Tom O’Folliard and Charlie Bowdre. A stone marker lists all three men, who are buried side by side, with the word “Pals” carved into the top of the tombstone.

      

      
        
        

        
          Fact File: Tiburcio Vasquez, a colourful Californian bandit (between 1857 and 1874) who was fluent in English and Spanish, has been called a hero by some Mexican-Americans because he defied racial discrimination and ignored what he considered to be unjust laws against his fellow countrymen.

      

      

      

      
        

        FOR FURTHER INVESTIGATION
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           The Authentic Life of Billy, the KidDirector: Sheriff Patrick Garrett

A new edition of the original 1927 account, written by the sheriff who killed Billy.
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           Billy the Kid: The Endless RideDirector: Michael Wallis
2008

Using newspaper accounts and other historical documents, the author pieced together the facts behind Billy the Kid’s life.
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           Billy the KidDirector: William A. Graham
1989

A remake of the 1941 movie of the same name, starring Val Kilmer.
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           memory.loc.gov/wpa/19030911Some oral history: the deposition of a lawman who met Billy the Kid in 1877 when the outlaw was jailed in New Mexico.



        

      

      

      
        Gunslingers

        
          
            Gunslinger (or gunfighter) was the title given to the men of the American Old West who gained their reputations as pistol-packing lawbreakers. The best-known of the gunfighters were so feared by the public that they tended to meet their ends during inglorious ambushes rather than from the gun battles so stylized in the Westerns. And they were often feared not because of their actions, but because of their hyper-inflated reputations.

              Some were even putative good guys: the Earp brothers, for instance, became law enforcement deputies and marshals. Nevertheless, they were viewed by many simply as bandits-with-badges, ruthlessly enforcing their interests in Tombstone, Arizona, instead of protecting the rights of the citizens.

              The most famous gunslingers’ battle was the Gunfight at the O.K. Corral. The fight, in October 1881, was in a vacant patch of ground behind a corral in Tombstone. Despite only three people being killed that day, it has acquired a mythological significance unique to the history of the Old West. A newspaper headline, dated 26 October 1881, described the battle as “A Desperate Fight Between Officers of the Law and Cowboys”. The paper reported that after a marshal had arrested a cowboy named Clanton for disorderly conduct, he had sworn he’d seek vengeance against the sheriff and Deputy City Marshal Virgil Earp. By 3pm that afternoon, the Earp brothers and Doc Holliday, an American dentist, gambler, and gunfighter who was staying at Fly’s boarding house immediately next to the O.K. Corral, met up with the infamous Clanton brothers and two McLaury brothers, two gangs of brothers who had tough reputations. A “lively fire commenced from the cowboys” against the citizens and “about thirty shots were fired rapidly”, the paper reported.

              Virgil’s brother Wyatt, walked away from the gun battle unhurt (unlike Virgil, who was shot through the right calf); Morgan Earp was hit by a lone bullet through the upper back above his shoulder blades, while Holliday was grazed on his hip. Billy Clanton and Tom and Frank McLaury died from their wounds. Afterward, an inquest and arraignment hearing determined that Holliday and the Earps did not commit criminal acts during the gunfight.

              Doc Holliday, although he was a doctor, had turned to lawlessness because, during those treacherous cowboy days, he had felt it was a dog-eat-dog world. Following Doc’s death in 1896, Wyatt Earp was quoted in a newspaper article as saying: “Doc was a dentist whom necessity had made a gambler; a gentleman whom disease had made a frontier vagabond; a philosopher whom life had made a caustic wit; a long lean ash-blond fellow nearly dead with consumption, and at the same time the most skilful gambler and the nerviest, speediest, deadliest man with a gun that I ever knew.”

          

        

      

    

    

    
      
        

        John Dillinger
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          The “gun”, carved out of wood and blackened with boot polish, with which John Dillinger escaped jail.
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          The police mugshot of gangster John Dillinger, and the flier giving notice of his “wanted” status.
        
      

      Chicago police gunned down the outlaw John Herbert Dillinger in 1934, when he was 31 years old. He had spent most of his young life as a criminal: armed robberies were his speciality, terrorizing the good citizens of Indiana and neighbouring states. He has often been described as the US’s first celebrity criminal. US Federal Bureau of Investigations agents dubbed Dillinger Public Enemy Number One and “a notorious and vicious thief” because of the scale of his crimes and his unpredictably violent nature. Clearly he was a force to be reckoned with; he epitomized the 1930s American gangster era and stirred mass emotion to a degree rarely seen at that time.

        By modern standards, Dillinger’s crimes were perhaps tame, especially when compared with some of today’s criminals. Nevertheless, once the FBI was tracking him down for murder, his status became legendary. Associates of the Dillinger Gang were responsible for the fatal shootings of thirteen law-enforcement officers in 1933 and 1934 alone.

        His life started out normally enough. Born John Herbert Dillinger Jr in Indianapolis, Indiana, on 22 June, 1903, there was nothing to distinguish him from any other minor crook in his early criminal years. On 4 December 1923, after serving just five months in the US Navy, Dillinger went absent without leave. In 1924, he married a child bride, sixteen-year-old Beryl Hovious.

        That same year, on 16 September, Dillinger and a new accomplice, Ed Singleton, robbed a Mooresville, Indiana, grocer named Frank Morgan. Dillinger hit Morgan with an iron bolt wrapped in cloth. It was a particularly stupid crime to have attempted, given that Mooresville was only a small town of which Dillinger was a resident: he was recognized by the grocer, who was not seriously injured, and was arrested for the assault and robbery. Ten days later, he was incarcerated at the Indiana State Reformatory in Michigan City to serve out a ten- to twenty-year sentence. Singleton was sentenced to two to fourteen years. Dillinger was later transferred to the Indiana State Prison, a facility built near Michigan City, Indiana, to house prisoners of war during the Civil War. In 1929, Dillinger’s wife divorced him, not wishing to remain married to a convicted felon.

        While in prison, Dillinger picked up tips from fellow inmates who were seasoned bank robbers. As it turned out, prison turned out to be an excellent training ground for Dillinger, honing his smarts and toughening him up for a career as a professional lawbreaker. In May 1933, he was released on parole because his stepmother was dying, but by the time he made it home she had already passed away. Less than a month after his release, he tried out his acquired robbery tips by holding up his first bank – a stick-up job in New Carlisle, Ohio, in which he walked away with a booty of $10,600.

        Within four months, he was back in jail again, this time in Lima, Ohio. He was sprung by some fellow prison gang members; they escaped, killing their jailer, Sheriff Jessie Sarber, in the process. At the end of that year, most of the gang, including Dillinger, were captured in Tucson, Arizona. This time Dillinger was incarcerated in the Lake County jail in Crown Point, Indiana. It was in that jail that the now-famous photograph of him with his arm on the prosecutor’s shoulder was taken. Before his trial was to start, Dillinger, who had picked his fellow inmates’ brains on the prison’s workings, busted out of the so-called escape-proof county jail, embarrassing his jailers. Newspapers reported that Dillinger had made a fake gun, fashioned out of wood and blackened with shoe polish, and fooled deputies into believing he was armed.

        Once out of prison, he was once again up to his old tricks and his bank robberies continued at a steady pace. Dillinger was thought to have been associated with gangs that robbed a dozen banks and stole more than $300,000, which was a huge amount during the Depression years. As he pulled off a growing list of heists, newspaper accounts began referring to him as “Jack Rabbit”: his movements during robberies were apparently very like a jack rabbit, as he leaped over bank counters, narrowly escaping police officers. He hooked up with other robbers and the group became known as the Dillinger Gang. After Dillinger and his boys moved into Chicago territory, the Chicago Police Department established a special elite group dubbed the Dillinger Squad, headed by Captain John Stege, to track down the gang. While living there, Dillinger, a big sports fan, regularly attended Chicago Cubs baseball games.

        He was eventually apprehended by the authorities and held on a murder charge at the Crown Point County Jail. He escaped, but it was to be the Jack Rabbit’s last leap. A girlfriend of his betrayed him, tipping police off as to his whereabouts. Unaware that federal agents were lying in wait for him the gang leader was shot three times – twice in the chest and once in the neck – as he left a cinema on 22 July 1934. Dillinger died instantly.

        Fans of the criminal continue to observe their annual “John Dillinger Day” on 22 July, and Dillinger’s gravestone at Crown Hill Cemetery in Indianapolis, Indiana, has been pillaged for memorabilia. Some naysayers claimed that John Dillinger did not in fact die on that 22 July day, insisting that the dead man was in fact a petty criminal from Wisconsin named Jimmy Lawrence who looked a lot like Dillinger. The allegations caused a controversy which heated up even more when an autopsy revealed that the body had brown eyes but, according to police documents, Dillinger’s eyes were actually grey. Furthermore, the body showed signs of a childhood disease and a rheumatic heart condition that Dillinger never had.

        The credibility of these claims is compromised by the fact that the body was positively identified as that of Dillinger by his sister, by a scar on his leg he received as a child. While there was substantial scarring, the postmortem fingerprints were positively identified as Dillinger’s.
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           Dillinger: The Untold StoryDirector: G. Russell Girardin, William J. Helmer & Rick Mattix
2005

Everything you could ever want to know about the notorious John Dillinger.
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           The Complete Public Enemy Almanac: New Facts and Features on the People, Places, and Events of the Gangster and Outlaw Era, 1920–1940Director: William J. Helmer, Rick Mattix & Rose Keefe
2007

A reference book covering two decades of lawlessness in American history.
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           hydeparkmedia.com/dillingerAn article about Dillinger’s escape from the Crown Point County Jail when he used a toy gun to break out, a move that to this day is said to embarrass the townsfolk.
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          The body of Charles “Pretty Boy” Floyd is propped on a slab in the county morgue in East Liverpool, Ohio, after he was shot and killed in a gun battle with federal agents on a nearby farm on 22 October 1934.
        
      

      Charles Arthur Floyd grew up on a small farm in the Cookson Hills district of Oklahoma. The family had moved there in the midst of a drought, and they struggled financially. To make ends meet, his father, Walter Floyd, got into the business of bootlegging, and Charles got into bank robberies. He bought his first gun while still a teenager. The first known crime to be committed by Floyd was at age eighteen, when he stole $3.50 in pennies from a post office, according to the 22 October 1922 issue of Time magazine. Unable to find work, he started robbing banks.

        Three years later, at twenty-one, he was arrested in St Louis, Missouri, for a payroll robbery and served five years in prison. When paroled, he found refuge in Tom’s Town, later to be renamed Kansas City. It was a rough place, a haven for hired guns, gangsters, and murderers. The city had gained a reputation as a safe port of call for criminals. To stay there, crooks had to pay off the Italian mob, which, at the time, was run by Johnny Lazia, the unofficial sheriff who tolerated bootlegging, prostitution and gambling, while keeping serious and violent crimes in check. It was in Tom’s Town that Floyd learned how to use a machine gun.

        While never a member of a gang, Floyd certainly had accomplices, and he teamed up with various outlaws he encountered in the criminal underworld of Tom’s Town. He had a regular partner, George Birdwell, with whom he pulled a multitude of bank jobs close to home and, on 22 December 1931, even managed two in one day in the Oklahoma towns of Castle and Paden. As a result, the local bank insurance rates doubled, and the governor of Oklahoma placed a $56,000 reward on George Birdwell’s head. He gained national recognition, becoming regularly referred to as “Oklahoma’s Bandit King”. At the same time, the FBI issued a poster with the following caption: “Wanted dead or alive: $4,000 for the capture of “Pretty Boy” Charles Floyd”. He had become a folk anti-hero.

        Pretty Boy Floyd became even more notorious when he was accused in 1933 of participating in the 17 June Kansas City Union Station Massacre in Tom’s Town. The shootout occurred as convicted murderer Frank “Jelly” Nash was being escorted through Union Square by officers, in order to return him to jail at Leavenworth, Kansas, from which he had already escaped three times. After the smoke had finally cleared over this particularly bloody event, FBI agent Raymond Caffrey, Police Chief Otto Reed, and detectives Frank Hermanson and W.J. Grooms were dead. Nash was also cut down in the bloodbath, despite the fact that his associates were supposedly trying to free him.

        It was one of the most sensational stories of its time. It is believed that Adam Richetti, who was a friend of Nash, and two machine-gun-wielding accomplices had committed the crimes. Richetti was tried and convicted of murder in the case; he was later executed in Missouri’s gas chamber.

        It was believed that the other shooters were Floyd and Vernon Miller, although the truth of the matter is not known: both men denied being there, though US federal agents didn’t buy their stories. With one of their own dead, the G-men wanted payback, and began tailing Floyd. On 22 October 1934, they caught up with him in Ohio after spotting Floyd’s car behind a bush. They surrounded his car, and when Floyd stepped out of the driver’s seat with a .45 calibre pistol in hand, agents opened fire. Floyd was shot to death during the ambush. The action marked the first time that US federal agents, serving under Director J. Edgar Hoover, carried guns in the line of duty.

        Pretty Boy Floyd’s body was put on public display in Salisaw, Oklahoma, and there were reports of between 20,000 and 40,000 people attending his funeral, the largest service in Oklahoma history. He was buried in Akin, Oklahoma.

        Recent in-depth studies of Pretty Boy Floyd and the Kansas City Massacre have suggested that Floyd had been telling the truth. Author Robert Unger produced evidence that officers may have accidentally killed their own, in an incidence of what the military call “friendly fire”: that it could have been Agent Lackey’s handling of an unfamiliar weapon – a shotgun – that killed Frank Nash, Agent Caffrey, and Officer Hermanson.

        Woody Guthrie immortalized many Oklahoma bandits in a series of songs titled the Dustbowl Ballads that celebrated the outlaws as populist heroes. Included was a song about the Dalton Gang, and another about a brazen female outlaw named Belle Starr. One of his most famous songs, however, was Guthrie’s 1939 “The Ballad of Pretty Boy Floyd”. “Come gather ’round me, children, a story I will tell”, the lyrics began. “’Bout Pretty Boy Floyd, an outlaw, Oklahoma knew him well.”
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           Pretty Boy: The Life & Times of Charles Arthur FloydDirector: Michael Wallice
1994

Everything you could ever want to know about Pretty Boy Floyd.
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           The Union Station Massacre: The Original Sin of J. Edgar Hoover’s FBIDirector: Robert Unger
2005

Controversial examination of the bloody fiasco at Union Station.
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           geocities.com/CapitolHill/Lobby/3935Detailed biography of Charles Floyd.



        

      

      

      
        How the boy became pretty

        
          
            There are two different accounts as to how he got the nickname “Pretty Boy”. One story says he earned it after his first major robbery because of the description given by one witness that he was “a mere boy — a pretty boy with apple cheeks”. Another account says that Beulah Baird Ash, a brothel madam in Tom’s Town, give him the nickname. He was reportedly never happy with the name – much like Baby Face Nelson. But the name stuck.

          

        

      

    

    

    
      
        

        Baby Face Nelson
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          A police mugshot of Baby Face Nelson.
        
      

      A short man at five foot six, Lester Joseph Gillis, also known as George Nelson, grew up after the turn of the twentieth century in the hard Chicago Union Stockyard district. His parents were Belgian immigrants, and he was one of seven children. They lived on North California Avenue, near Humboldt Park, and their father, Joseph, worked in the stockyards at a tannery, while their mother, Marie (or Mary, as she anglicized it), tutored schoolchildren in French. Lester was the youngest Gillis child and the smallest boy on his block, a fact that made him the target of bullies. After his parents enrolled him in a rigid parochial school, Lester began misbehaving and eventually skipping school.

        In 1918, his sister, Jenny Gillis, fell victim to the deadly influenza epidemic and died. Instead of attending the funeral service, held in the front room of his home, Lester cowered on his bed, terrified of seeing his sister’s lifeless body. Nevertheless, his mother pulled her nine-year-old son out of bed and forced him to look. “See now how peaceful your sister looks?” she asked him. From that day forward, Lester expressed dread whenever death was mentioned. His parents sent him off to boarding school fifty miles away, hoping it would lift him out of his depression. A month later, Lester, dirty and wet from the rain and clutching a kitten, showed up at the door of his father’s tannery. His parents re-enrolled him in the local Catholic school, but Nelson again started skipping classes.

        During the ensuing years, while he was in his early teens, Lester roamed the streets of Chicago with a gang of underage hoodlums, and by the age of fourteen he was an accomplished car thief, according to his FBI file. He was sent to the Cook County School for Boys, a reformatory. While there, his father committed suicide and Lester ran away again. He returned to school, but he played hooky most of the time.

        Finally, Lester dropped out of high school and began hanging out with the Halsted Street Boys, neighbourhood gang members who took their name after the central thoroughfare in their neighbourhood, which they considered their turf.

        His early criminal career, with the local wannabe thugs, included stealing tyres, bootlegging and armed robbery. He was nicknamed “Baby Face” because of his youthful appearance, but his demeanour was anything but soft. He was said to hate the nickname, but it stuck to him for the rest of his life.

        After he was caught stealing cars and taking friends on joyrides, he was convicted of car theft in 1922. A judge sentenced him to eighteen months in the Illinois State School for Boys at St Charles. He arrived at the overcrowded and understaffed reformatory two months shy of his fourteenth birthday. While there, Lester hooked up with Roger Touhy (“the Terrible”) and his gang. It was then that Lester changed his name to George Nelson.

        He didn’t stick around, and, through Touhy, Nelson met the notorious Chicago gangster Al Capone and became an enforcer and thug for the mob. However, after Nelson fought with Capone’s top ally in New Jersey, Anthony Accetturo – a leader in the Lucchese crime family – Capone let Nelson go. Even in Al Capone’s underworld, Baby Face Nelson was too violent and out of control for the mobster. Nelson’s reputation grew: it became known that his take on sticking up a bank was to go in guns blazing, and he became the most feared robber of his time.

        In 1934, Nelson gained even more prominence when he joined up with John Dillinger’s gang – only Dillinger died the same year. Nelson was known to boast about having robbed a bank a day for a month, which was his way of trying to surpass Dillinger’s notorious crime record. While that claim was never substantiated, Nelson was personally responsible for killing more federal agents than any other criminal during that era. A cold and brutal man, he apparently took pleasure in killing.

        In 1928, when Nelson was twenty, he got to know Helen Warwick, a petite girl of fifteen whose immigrant parents had altered their name from Wawrzyniak. He met her at the toy store where she was a shop assistant. Within months, Helen was pregnant, and in October of that year they were married at the county courthouse. Nelson and his wife were devoted to each other and, in between George’s hold-ups, lived a quiet domestic life with their two children.

        In his criminal activity, Nelson was anything but gentle. Richard Lindberg, author of Return to the Scene of the Crime, wrote that “Gillis compensated for his physical limitations with a murderous temper and a willingness to employ a switchblade or a gun without hesitation or remorse for the intended victim.” After John Dillinger died, the G-men, as FBI agents were called in those days, bestowed the vacant title of Public Enemy Number One upon Nelson.

        Nelson’s reign of terror ended in 1934 during a machine-gun battle with two FBI agents. On 27 November, in the town of Barrington, Illinois, Nelson engaged agents Herman Hollis and Samuel Cowley in a fierce gunfight. By all accounts Nelson’s attack was motiveless, and entirely down to his hatred of lawmen. Nelson, his wife Helen, and criminal associate John Paul Chase were driving down a road when Nelson noticed that there were FBI agents in a car travelling in the opposite direction: he kept a list of FBI and police licence plates, such was his loathing of the law. Nelson turned the car around and gave chase to the vehicle. Once both had stopped, he leaped from the car and fired a Thompson sub-machine-gun at both agents, who returned fire.

        Reportedly, Nelson made no effort to take cover, simply walking towards the pair. He was shot and injured, but he escaped arrest that day. The following day, however, his body was found lying, swaddled in a blanket, in a ditch next to a cemetery in Niles Center, Illinois. It was assumed he had died from his injuries from the gunfight the day before; when the story broke, The New York Times claimed he had been shot seventeen times. George “Baby Face” Nelson was dead at age 25.

        He was buried at St Joseph Cemetery in River Grove, Illinois, twelve miles from the home he grew up in, near the Union Stockyards.
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           Baby Face Nelson: The FBI FilesDirector: The Federal Bureau of Investigations
2007

This paperback contains declassified criminal investigations carried out by the FBI into Nelson. Included are documents and details concerning Nelson’s infamous 1934 robbery of the Peoples Savings Bank in Grand Haven, Michigan.
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           Baby Face Nelson: Portrait of a Public EnemyDirector: Steven Nickel & William J. Helmer
2002

A no-holds-barred account of Nelson’s criminal career, covering all his infamous bank robberies and violent gun battles in the street.
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           Baby Face NelsonDirector: Scott Levy
1997

A nostalgic but unromanticized and violent account of Baby Face Nelson’s gangster activities in Chicago, which rivalled Al Capone, the top mobster of the era.
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           s9.com/Biography/Nelson-GeorgeA timeline of pivotal events in Baby Face Nelson’s life.



        

      

    

    

    
      
        

        Bonnie and Clyde
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          Stick ’em up: Clyde Barrow at the wrong end of Bonnie Parker’s gun.
        
      

      In 1932, Clyde Barrow and Bonnie Parker burst upon the American Southwest in the midst of the Great Depression. They were among a growing list of celebrity criminals of the modern era, and there have now been five movies made that tell their story, and plenty of song lyrics have been written about the notorious young killers.

        Bonnie was married at the age of sixteen, and was left on her own when her husband was sent to a federal penitentiary just a year after their wedding. To get by, Bonnie landed a job as a waitress, but she was convinced there was more to life than her dead-end job, and she quit. It was around the time Bonnie left her job that she met Clyde Barrow, when she was nineteen and Clyde was twenty-one.

        A number of theories have been bandied about over the years about how Bonnie and Clyde first met. The most credible version says that Clyde Barrow met Bonnie Parker in January of 1930. Bonnie was staying with a friend in West Dallas; Clyde dropped by the house while Bonnie was in the kitchen making hot chocolate. There was an immediate attraction. She stood by him when he was imprisoned shortly after they met, helping him to escape by smuggling a gun to him in jail. He was recaptured but paroled in early 1932. She remained a loyal companion to him as they carried out their crime spree for the next two years and awaited the violent deaths they saw as inevitable. Indeed, Bonnie rather prone to self-mythologizing: she wrote poetry, and some of her poems were published after her death, including two titled “The Story of Bonnie and Clyde” and “Suicide Sal”. Clyde, on the other hand, wasn’t nearly so interested in fame and fortune. His goal in life was to exact revenge on the Texas prison system he despised for abuses he felt he had suffered while serving time.

        In 1932, Bonnie and Clyde hooked up with Raymond Hamilton, a young gunman, for a few months, before William Daniel Jones – “W.D.” – replaced him as the third of their criminal trio. The following year, Clyde’s brother Buck was released from the Texas State Prison where he had been serving time. He and Clyde had already committed a multitude of robberies – mostly grocery stores and petrol stations – and crimes such as safe-cracking and car theft. Buck, along with his wife Blanche, joined the gang, making them a quintet.

        For two years, between 1932 and 1934, the Barrow Gang took bank employees hostage and kidnapped lawmen in the course of their headline-grabbing crime spree. They usually released any prisoners they took far from home, and would even on occasion give them cash so they could make it back on their own. It was a habit that contributed to the “Robin Hood” mystique that grew to surround them. The pair were also compared to Shakespeare’s star-crossed lovers, being dubbed “Romeo and Juliet in a getaway car” by one writer. The pair in reality had little in common with any heroes of myth or fiction: the Barrow Gang did not hesitate to kill anyone if people got in their way. Clyde is believed to have shot and killed at least ten people. Other members of the Barrow Gang wanted for murder by the lawmen included W.D. Jones, Raymond Hamilton, Buck Barrow (Clyde’s brother) and Henry Methvin.

        On 13 April 1933, J.W. “Wes” Harryman, a Newton County constable, and Harry McGennis, a Joplin police detective, approached the gang’s hideout – a two-storey apartment in Joplin, Missouri. There ensued a gun battle that left both men dead. But not before, however, they had wounded gang member W.D. Jones, and the trio of Jones, Bonnie and Clyde fled in Clyde’s car. The gang had left most of their possessions behind inside the $20-a-month rented apartment – including a 16-gauge bloodstained shotgun, handwritten poems by Bonnie Parker, a camera, and several rolls of exposed Kodak film. The film, which contained mostly photos taken of each other, was developed by the Joplin Globe newspaper, and produced the now-famous photos of the members of the gang. After the photos were published, Bonnie and Clyde, who were on the lam for a month, wised up and started to cover the licence plates of their stolen vehicles with coats and hats when they posed for photos. Barrow was now wanted for murder, robbery, and kidnapping, and a massive manhunt was launched to locate him.

        In January 1934, while eluding police, Clyde masterminded the prison escape of Henry Methvin, Raymond Hamilton, and several other infamous prisoners – an event that was dubbed the “Eastham Breakout”. If revenge against Texas penal institutions was indeed Barrow’s main criminal ambition, then he seemed to have achieved it. The Texas Department of Corrections was considerably embarrassed by the jailbreak, compounded by the fact that two prison guards were shot with automatic pistols used by the escaping prisoners. The department commissioned Frank A. Hamer, a six-foot-three, 230-pound former captain in the Texas Rangers, to come out of retirement to hunt down the Barrow Gang.

        In April of that year, the Barrow Gang lost further sympathy in the eyes of the public when Henry Methvin and Clyde killed two young highway patrolmen near Grapevine in Texas (an area now known as Southlake); they killed a police constable in Oklahoma a few days later, where they also wounded and abducted an officer.

        An FBI agent deduced that Bonnie and Clyde were probably hiding out in a remote area south of Ruston, Louisiana, which was close to the home of the Methvins. The combined efforts of the FBI and local law enforcement authorities in Louisiana and Texas turned up some trump-card information: that Bonnie and Clyde, with some of the Methvins, had thrown a party at Black Lake, Louisiana, on the night of 21 May and were going to return to the area two days later. The lawmen decided to stage an ambush.

        In the early morning of 23 May, a posse composed of police officers from Louisiana and Texas, including Texas Ranger Frank Hamer, hid in bushes along Highway 154 near Sailes, Louisiana. Bonnie and Clyde were identified driving an automobile and when they attempted to escape, the officers opened fire. The pair of outlaws were killed instantly.

        No warning was called out to Bonnie and Clyde, and a combined 130 rounds were shot into the car, riddling the vehicle and its occupants with bullets.

        Inside the stolen car that Clyde had been driving was a cache of weapons, including automatic rifles, semi-automatic shotguns, handguns, and several thousand rounds of ammunition. There were also fifteen licence plates from a variety of US states. The bullet-riddled 1934 Ford deluxe four-door saloon was purchased in 1988 by the owner of a Nevada hotel and casino and is regularly on display in Missouri and in Nevada.

        Inscribed on Bonnie’s tombstone was a poem she wrote: “As the flowers are all made sweeter by the sunshine and the dew, so this old world is made brighter by the lives of folks like you.”
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           The Lives and Times of Bonnie and ClydeDirector: E.R. Milner
2003

A readable write-up of the most romanticized pair of crims in history.
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           txashideout.tripod.com/joplinapartmentPhotos and information about the Joplin hideout apartment on Oak Ridge Drive. The apartment is available to rent by the week.
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           texashideout.tripod.com/warrencarA site that includes photos and information over the years about what has been called Bonnie and Clyde’s “death car”.



        

      

      

      
        Being a gangster: it’s a dog’s life

        
          
            Despite the glamorous images associated with the Barrow Gang, their lives were truly desperate. A recently published manuscript revealed Blanche Barrow’s account of her life on the run. Clyde, the book says, drove furiously while he searched for places where they could sleep or have a meal without being noticed; even though they had thousands of dollars gained from bank heists, sleeping in beds was a rare luxury and one person was always assigned as a lookout. It wasn’t exactly a stress-free environment and, far from being a roller-coaster ride, the gang’s existence was characterized by arguments and bickering.

          

        

      

      

      
        The shooting of Bonnie & Clyde

        
          
            In a statement to the Dallas Dispatch newspaper on the day after the shooting of Barrow and Parker, one of the posse of policemen gave the following description of events: “Each of us six officers had a shotgun and an automatic rifle and pistols. We opened fire with the automatic rifles. They were emptied before the car got even with us. Then we used shotguns … There was smoke coming from the car, and it looked like it was on fire. After shooting the shotguns, we emptied the pistols at the car, which had passed us and ran into a ditch about fifty yards on down the road. It almost turned over. We kept shooting at the car even after it stopped. We weren’t taking any chances.”

          

        

      

    

    

    
      
        

        Ma Barker
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          Kate “Ma” Barker, right, and her son Fred, are shown in the morgue, their bodies riddled with bullets, after a six-hour machine-gun battle with federal agents in Ocklawaha Florida, on 16 January 1935.
        
      

      Kate “Ma” Barker was one of the legendary American criminals of the “Public Enemy” era. While her gang’s exploits were headline news at the time, Barker’s notoriety has since subsided, trailing behind John Dillinger and Bonnie and Clyde. The popular view of Ma Barker as the gang’s leader and its criminal mastermind has been called a myth: it was not until after Ma Barker’s death that she became known as the brains behind the infamous Barker-Karpis Gang; they were only “Ma Barker and her boys” once she was in the grave.

        Ma Barker was a pudgy, five-feet-two, Bible-reading fiddle player who enjoyed hillbilly songs and crossword puzzles, and a mother of four – all of whom grew up to be deadly criminals. It was the FBI that gave Ma the prestigious but undeserved title of leader of the pack, claiming that she was the mastermind behind her sons’ jobs. According to the Bureau, she was the engineer of the escape routes, who then waited at home, in prayer, for her sons to return with the loot. The theory was never proven and Ma was in actual fact never even charged with a crime.

        No evidence ever surfaced linking her as an active participant in her boys’ endeavours. Rather, her role was to take care of gang members, who often sent her out to the movies while they committed their crimes. The FBI insisted, however, that Ma played a major criminal role, and they nicknamed her “Bloody Mary”.

        Ma’s life began simply enough. She was born Arizona Donnie Clark in 1872, part of a poor family who lived in the Ozark hills near Springfield, Missouri. Friends called her Kate. In 1892 at the age of twenty, she married George Barker, a farm labourer.

        The couple lived in a tar-papered shack in a small Missouri town not far from where Kate had been born. She gave birth to four sons, Herman, Lloyd, Arthur, and Freddie. Her husband George had a drink problem; he abandoned the family shortly after Freddie was born. The kids were badly behaved, and became juvenile delinquents. They began their criminal careers with petty crimes, but eventually graduated to bank and train robberies. The two oldest Barker boys, Herman and Lloyd, are thought to have been part of the Central Park Gang, which was based in Tulsa, Oklahoma, from around 1915. Herman had already been arrested several times for highway robberies, while Arthur Barker began a not altogether successful career as a bank robber in the early 1920s. In 1922, Arthur was imprisoned for the murder of James J. Sherrill, a night watchman, in Tulsa, Oklahoma, the previous year. He was not to be released for ten years.

        Throughout the 1920s, the Barker boys that were still at large were involved in a plethora of robberies and heists. All this time, their mother professed she did not believe the stories she heard about her sons. “Lies, all lies! You’re all lying against my boys!”, she shouted at the federal officers, as they arrested one of her sons yet again. It was a classic case of a mother’s self-protective denial, flying in the face of all the evidence.

        In 1927, however, Herman was stopped by police following a bank heist in Wichita, Kansas, just over the Missouri-Kansas state line. Rather than be taken into custody, Herman turned his gun on himself, committing suicide. Then, in 1932, Lloyd was sent away to the US penitentiary in Leavenworth, Kansas, to serve a 25-year term for robbing mail in Baxter Springs, Kansas. Fred Barker had also been arrested and served time between 1927 and 1931. During his time inside he had met Alvin “Creepy” Karpis, who had been convicted of car theft. Alvin was the son of Lithuanian immigrants, was said to have a photographic memory and had gained his nickname from his smile – supposedly a sinister sight. Upon the pair’s release, they teamed up, formed a gang, and committed a series of successful bank robberies. Although Herman Barker was dead and Lloyd was in prison, Arthur rejoined his brother Fred in the gang in late 1932.

        The Barker-Karpis gang turned to kidnapping in 1933. Their first victim was William Hamm – the rich owner of Hamm’s Beer – and they got away with $100,000 in ransom money. But the kidnapping of Edward G. Bremer, a wealthy Minnesota businessman, was to prove the gang’s downfall. Although the kidnapping was successful – the gang scored a large ransom and released Bremer unharmed – it was an affront too far. The Bureau redoubled their efforts to take the gang down. They arrested Arthur Barker on 8 January 1935, in Chicago. They then managed to track down the matriarch of the Barker clan via letters that she had sent.

        The G-men, dressed in black suits and armed with Tommy guns, surrounded a two-storey house in Ocklawaha, a small Florida community, on 16 January 1935. They called out to Ma Barker, telling her that if she and her son surrendered, no one would get hurt. Instead, Freddie fired shots from the second floor. Federal agents returned fire and a six-hour gun battle ensued with fourteen FBI agents. When it was over, the feds had pumped a hundred rounds into the dwelling. Afterward, all was quiet. An agent went in, then quickly returned. “They’re dead”, he shouted. With that, the G-men broke out in applause – at least that’s how the tale has been handed down.

        Kate and Freddie’s bullet-riddled bodies remained for eight months at the Ocala funeral parlour, waiting to be claimed. While there, FBI agents were photographed with the bodies. Eventually, George Barker, Ma’s estranged husband, went to the mortuary and arranged for the burial of Kate and his son Freddie in Welch, Oklahoma.

        In 1936, the FBI arrested Alvin Karpis in New Orleans. Three years later, Arthur Barker was fatally shot during an attempted escape from the federal prison on Alcatraz Island, off the coast of Northern California. Lloyd, the only surviving Barker son, was released from prison in 1947, after serving out his 25-year sentence. Two years later, his wife shot and killed him in their home in Westminster, Colorado. For the crime, his wife was sent to an insane asylum.
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           Mean Men: The Sons of Ma BarkerDirector: Robert Winter
2007

This book, though now out of print, is well worth the search in used online bookstores.
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           Ma Barker’s Killer BroodDirector: Bill Karn
1960

This lurid film depicts the Barker Gang’s exploits in the 1930s South and Midwest; no-holds-barred in its rather sensationalist dramatizing of their kidnappings, robberies, and murders.
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           digital.library.okstate.edu/encyclopedia/entries/B/BA038A historical, thorough account of the Barker Gang.



        

      

      

      
        Karpis on Ma

        
          
            Alvin “Creepy” Karpis is one of the most authoritative voices to have attempted to dispel the myth that Ma Barker was the leader of the gang. And he should know. “The most ridiculous story in the annals of crime is that Ma Barker was the mastermind behind the Karpis-Barker gang”, he stated. “She wasn’t a leader of criminals or even a criminal herself. There is not one police photograph of her or set of fingerprints taken while she was alive … she knew we were criminals but her participation in our careers was limited to one function: when we travelled together, we moved as a mother and her sons. What could look more innocent?”

          

        

      

    

    

    
      
        

        Attila Ambrus: Transylvania’s Whisky Robber

      

      When a career criminal was taken down in Budapest in January 1999, the scene was one that was straight out of a cops-and-robbers movie. The police, decked out in combat gear that included bulletproof vests and sub-machine-guns, stood guard at the cordoned-off roads leading out of the capital. Their colleagues combed the bus and railway stations, and, with helicopters circling overhead, tirelessly searched out their target. The high speed train to Bucharest was boarded by fifty officers, who had orders to open fire if they found their man and he was armed. The elite law-enforcement unit was after Attila Ambrus, a bandit who had earlier busted out of Gyorskocsi utka, a maximum-security prison. Following his escape, Ambrus had become known as Eastern Europe’s most famous thief.

        A decade earlier, in 1988, Ambrus had crossed Romania’s borders into Hungary by riding underneath a freight train. So determined was he to escape his homeland that he had positioned himself between a grate and a wide steel bar that connected two train carriages, putting himself six inches off the ground. The train chugged into Hungary; he had made it intact.

        Ambrus had grown up in a one-street village in Eastern Transylvania. He applied for political asylum and citizenship in Hungary, which was granted in 1994. A year earlier, in 1993, Ambrus had committed his first Post Office robbery – one near the flat where he lived. A string of 27 robberies followed – at least that is what he has admitting to doing – which included extending his range to banks and travel agents too.

        In the life he led outside his criminal activities, he landed work as a gravedigger, pelt smuggler, Zamboni driver, and professional hockey goalie. He was, however, by all accounts a terrible goalkeeper, once letting in 23 goals in a single game. But, while a hockey player on the Hungarian National Hockey team, he never missed a practice. Whether the job was legal or illegal, he was a hard worker. All told, he stole about 299 million in Hungarian forints, or about $1 million.

        Before Attila’s arrest, websites in Hungary had popped up celebrating his exploits, put there by his cult-like following, rooting for him on the sidelines. Despite his large fan base, it was just a matter of time before he was caught, as his face had become too familiar thanks to the heavy media coverage of his crimes. He became known as the “Whiskey Robber” after he was spotted a couple of times downing shots of Johnnie Walker whiskey at pubs before committing his crimes. Attila, who was eighteen months old when his mother deserted him to become a Jehovah’s Witness, was also known as a ladies’ man, because of his penchant for handing flowers to tellers during the bank heists.

        He also mailed a bottle of wine to a police chief and, to pull off one particular job, he disguised himself as the head of a police department’s robbery division. Indeed, Ambrus himself was not at all impressed with the Budapest police department’s lengthy tactics in arresting him. “I didn’t think they were that good”, he told reporters.

        However, on Wednesday 27 October 1999, the police finally closed in on Attila, ending his career in crime. A special unit had been set up specifically to nail him. It had taken police three months to catch Attila, even though he was living in a downtown Budapest apartment. He was caught following a robbery at which police were able to find clues that led to his hideout. The arrest came at the end of what has been called the largest manhunt in modern Eastern European history.

        Today, he remains jailed in a maximum-security prison in northeast Hungary in a town called Satoraljaujhely, where he regularly posts to an Internet blog. He was widely liked as an anti-Establishment figure, helped enormously by the fact that he did not hurt anyone when carrying out his robberies. Even a national newspaper sang his praises. “He didn’t rob banks”, opined the Hungarian daily Magyar Hirlap upon Ambrus’s arrest. “He merely performed a peculiar redistribution of the wealth that differed from the elites only in its method.”
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           Ballad of the Whiskey RobberDirector: Julian Rubinstein
2004

The Johnnie-Walker-glugging heist-puller gets his own myth-making bio.
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           ce-review.org/99/19/gusztav19_ambrusA lengthy article concerning Ambrus’s capture.
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           myspace.com/thewhiskeyrobberAttila’s blog, which he updates (when he can) from prison.



        

      

    

    

    
      
        

        Ned Kelly
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          A depiction of Ned Kelly in his bullet-resistant iron suit, from the 1906 silent movie The Story of the Kelly Gang.
        
      

      Hanged in Melbourne in 1880 when he was 26, Edward “Ned” Kelly had already become a legend, a man whose gang had carried out two daring bank robberies before being cut to pieces during a siege in rural country Victoria. His story has since struck a deep chord with Australians, always ready to identify with the ordinary man standing up against persecution by officialdom.

        Born of an Irish convict father in 1854, Kelly’s first serious brush with the law came in 1870, when he served six months hard labour for brawling with a neighbour and then mailing a pair of calf testicles to the man’s wife. Fresh out of jail, Kelly rode his friend Isaiah Wright’s horse into Greta town, only to discover that the horse had been stolen. After a scuffle with police constable Hall, Kelly was arrested for the theft of the horse, and sentenced to three years in Melbourne’s Pentridge Prison. (Wright, the actual thief, received just eighteen months.)

        Following his release in the mid-1870s, Kelly – as he would later claim in his famous letters – took to stealing horses and cattle with his stepfather George King in response to the way rich landowners would impound their poorer neighbours’ stock. Police also suspected his younger brothers Jim and Dan Kelly to be involved in the pair’s criminal activities, and on 15 April 1878 police constable Alexander Fitzpatrick was assaulted by members of the Kelly family at their home while trying to arrest Dan. Fitzpatrick claimed that Kelly’s mother Ellen hit him over the head with a shovel and Ned shot him in the wrist. For their part, the Kellys said that Ned wasn’t even there, that Fitzpatrick had no arrest warrant and that the assault only occurred after Fitzpatrick threatened to shoot Ellen unless Dan went with him.

        The next day, Ellen Kelly, Ned’s brother-in-law Bill Skilling and his friend Bricky Williamson were arrested and later jailed for the attempted murder of Fitzpatrick. With a reward of £100 offered for their arrest, Dan and Ned went into hiding in Victoria’s Wombat Ranges with accomplices Joe Byrne and Steve Hart.

        On 25 October, Sergeant Kennedy, along with constables McIntyre, Lonigan and Scanlon, set off into the hills to track down the fugitives. But the Kelly Gang ambushed them near some log cabins at Stringybark Creek, Kelly shooting Lonigan and Byrne killing Scanlon. Kennedy was also killed in the exchange but McIntyre escaped on horseback. Ned Kelly later defended his actions, writing “I could not help shooting them, or else lie down and let them shoot me which they would have done”. Incensed, the Victorian government placed a £2000 bounty on the heads of the gang of outlaws.

        But the Kellys remained unbowed. On 10 December 1878 the gang descended on the small town of Euroa, locked half the population in the train station and robbed the National Bank of £2260. Ned left behind the “Euroa Letter”, written in red ink, explaining his side of the events at Stringybark Creek, and promising dire consequences unless the government recognized the plight of poor landowners. The gang struck again on 8 February the next year, in an even more audacious escapade in which they locked two policemen in the cells at Jerilderie, stole their uniforms and then robbed the Jerilderie bank of another £2000. This time Ned left behind the “Jerilderie Letter” but – like the first – its contents were suppressed by the authorities.

        The Kellys laid low over the next year, until Joe Byrne discovered that his longtime friend Aaron Sherritt had turned police informer, and shot him dead. The gang then decided to ambush a train carrying in police reinforcements, and so they rode to Glenrowan station on 27 June 1880. Here they pulled up the train tracks and took forty hostages at the Glenrowan hotel, standing them drinks on the house. But during the evening Kelly released schoolteacher Thomas Curnow, who managed to warn the train before it ran off the rails. Around 3am some sixty police laid siege to the inn and riddled the building in a murderous crossfire, killing Byrne and several hostages. In the dawn, Ned emerged dressed in a suit of armour forged from old plough blades; he was gunned down but captured alive. The police finally let the hostages leave the hotel and set it on fire. Dan and Hart’s charred corpses were later found inside; witnesses reported that they had committed suicide earlier in the siege.

        Despite a petition signed by thirty-two thousand people, Ned Kelly went to the gallows on 11 November 1880 for the murder of Constable Lonigan. Having told the trial judge that he’d soon see him in hell, the last words of this unrepentant rebel were “Such is life”.
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Kelly’s case in his own words.
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           The Inner History of the Kelly GangDirector: J.J. Kenneally
1945

A pro-Kelly viewpoint, written while several eyewitnesses were still alive to give their testimony.
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           ironoutlaw.comThe facts and mythology surrounding the Kelly saga, including the latest archeological discoveries.
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